71126-1

REC'D

JUL 23 2014

King County Prosecutor  
Appellate Unit

71126-1

NO. 71126-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PEDRO NAVARRO,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Julie Spector, Judge  
The Honorable Ronald Kessler, Judge  
The Honorable Theresa B. Doyle, Judge

FILED  
JUL 23 2014  
KING COUNTY  
COURT CLERK

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER H. GIBSON  
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC  
1908 E Madison Street  
Seattle, WA 98122  
(206) 623-2373

**

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by affirmatively misadvising Appellant about the consequences of exercising his right to self-representation.

2. The trial court erred in setting expiration dates of October 10, 2025, for three sexual assault protection orders. Supp. CP \_\_ (sub no. 162, Sexual Assault Protection Order, filed 10/11/13); Supp. CP \_\_ (sub no. 163, Sexual Assault Protection Order, filed 10/11/13); Supp. CP \_\_ (sub no. 164, Sexual Assault Protection Order, filed 10/11/13).<sup>1</sup>

3. The trial court erred by imposing a ten-year no-contact order in the judgment and sentence that applies to the complaining witnesses for offenses for which the statutory maximum sentence is five years.

Issues Related to Assignments of Error

1. Did the trial court's Faretta<sup>2</sup> colloquy fail to satisfy constitutional requirements where the court informed appellant that if he exercised his right to proceed pro se he would be prohibited from having counsel reappointed in the event he changed his mind later, when whether to reappoint counsel in such a situation is clearly within a court's discretion?

---

<sup>1</sup> Copies of the orders are attached as appendices A, B & C, respectively.

<sup>2</sup> Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975)

2. The statute authorizing a sexual assault protection order (SAPO) permits the order to remain in effect for two years following the expiration of the sentence. Where the court imposed SAPOs with expiration dates clearly in excess of that period, should this Court vacate those orders and remand for entry of orders that complies with the statute?

3. Is the term of a no contact order imposed as part of a sentence limited to the statutory maximum sentence for the applicable offense?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March 2012, the King County prosecutor charged appellant Pedro Navarro with eight felonies; six counts of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes (communicating) and two counts of first degree extortion with sexual motivation (extortion). CP 1-13. The State subsequently added an additional five counts of communicating. CP 40-45. The State alleged Navarro posed as a teenage girl and befriended several 12-14 year-old boys through cell phone text messages, and subsequently offered and requested sexual favors, and in at least of couple of instances threatened boys with harm if they refused. Supp CP \_\_ (sub no. 122C, State's Trial Memorandum, filed 7/17/13).

On January 23, 2013, approximately seven months before the actual trial,<sup>3</sup> a hearing was held before the Honorable Julie Spector on Navarro's request to proceed pro se. 1RP 4-12. Navarro explained that while in jail he had been reading about the law and had concluded he was in the best position to represent himself at trial. 1RP 4. In response to questioning by Judge Spector, Navarro admitted he had never "formally" studied law, had never represented himself in the past, and did not really know what jury instructions were. 1RP 4-5. Navarro did, however, state he was aware there is a misdemeanor version of the communicating charges, that he was not entitled to stand-by counsel, and that neither the judge nor his current counsel could help him at trial if he represented himself. 1RP 6-7. Navarro also claimed he could figure out the applicable procedural rules. 1RP 8. Thereafter, the follow colloquy occurred:

THE COURT: So, you're going to learn all the Rules of Criminal Procedure between now and February 5th? . . . It takes years of experience [to learn criminal procedure], and the woman standing just to your right has that experience. Why would you want to do this on your own?

MR. NAVARRO: I don't know.

THE COURT: You don't know? But, I have to know before I let you make this huge decision to represent yourself. And you don't get to change your mind; once it's done, it's over. She steps away; she's off the case, and you're completely on your own. Do you know how to cross-

---

<sup>3</sup> At the time of the hearing, trial was scheduled to begin on February 5, 2013. 1RP 8.

examine a witness?

MR. NAVARRO: You're saying that if I go pro se, I'm completely on my own?

THE COURT: You're completely on your own. You have no right to standby counsel.

MR. NAVARRO: And I can't recall my pro se status.<sup>[4]</sup>

THE COURT: No. This is not-this is not a game. It's done. I let her go here today; you're done. You don't get to say, hey, Judge Spector, you know, we had that very interesting discussion last week or tomorrow, it's over. It's a huge deal. . . .

1RP 8-9. In response to Judge Spector's admonishments, Navarro withdrew his request. 1RP 10-11.

Following a jury trial held July 17, 2013 through August 8, 2013 before the Honorable Theresa B. Doyle, Navarro was acquitted on three counts of communicating, but convicted as charged on the remaining counts. CP 55-67; 1RP-6RP.<sup>5</sup>

On October 11, 2013, Navarro was sentenced to the statutory maximum sentence of 60 months for each of the communicating convictions, and 114 months incarceration and six months of community

---

<sup>4</sup> Although punctuated by the transcriptionist as a statement, it appears from the context that it should be instead punctuated as a question.

<sup>5</sup> There are twelve volumes of verbatim report of proceedings referenced as follows: 1RP - January 23, 2013, June 11, 2013, July 17, 2013 & October 11, 2013; 2RP - five-volume consecutively paginated set for the dates of July 18, 22-25, 29-31, 2013; 3RP - July 30, 2013 (a.m.); 4RP - August 5, 2013; 5RP - August 6, 2013; and 6RP - August 8, 2013.

custody for each for the extortion convictions, all concurrent, with credit for time served as determined by the King County Jail.<sup>6</sup> CP 127-38; 1RP 191-93. The judgment and sentence includes a provision prohibiting Navarro from having contact with any of the complaining witnesses, including those named in the charges for which Navarro was acquitted,<sup>7</sup> for a period of ten years. CP 131. The court also entered three SAPOs with expiration dates of October 10, 2025. Appendices A, B & C. Navarro appeals. CP 142.

C. ARGUMENTS

1. THE COURT'S FARETTA COLLOQUY WAS FATALLY FLAWED, REQUIRING REVERSAL OF THE CONVICTIONS AND REMAND FOR A NEW TRIAL.

The state and federal constitutions guarantee an accused the right to counsel at all critical stages of a criminal proceeding. These provisions also guarantee the right to self-representation. U.S. Const. amend. 6, 14; Const. art. 1, § 22; Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); State v. Coley, \_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, 326 P.3d 702, 710-11 (Slip Op filed June 12, 2014); State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d

---

<sup>6</sup> Navarro was arrested on March 7, 2012. 1RP 49-51. He was sentenced on October 11, 2013. 1RP 167-198. Based on the record, it appears Navarro has remained incarcerated since March 7, 2012, and therefore by the time of sentencing should have received credit for almost two years of time served.

<sup>7</sup> Navarro agreed to inclusion in the no contact order the names of the complaining witnesses in the charges for which he was acquitted. 1RP 179.

496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010); State v. Silva, 108 Wn. App. 536, 539, 31 P.3d 729 (2001). The state constitutional right to self-representation "is absolute" and its violation is reversible error. In re Detention of J.S., 138 Wn. App. 882, 890-891, 159 P.3d 435 (2007).

Before a trial court may accept a waiver of counsel, the court must ensure the accused knows the risks inherent in self-representation. Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 211, 691 P.2d 957 (1984). This is usually accomplished through a colloquy. Silva, at 540 (citing Acrey, at 211).

When Navarro sought to exercise his right to self-representation, Judge Spector engaged him in a colloquy in which she informed him that if granted pro se status, he could not change his mind later and have counsel reappointed. 1RP 8-9. This was incorrect information. Although Navarro would have had no right to reappointment of counsel if he later changed his mind, the court hearing such a request would have had the discretion to reappoint counsel. State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 376-77, 816 P.2d 1 (1991); State v. Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. 678, 690-91, 308 P.3d 660, review denied 178 Wn.2d 1022, 312 P.3d 650 (2013). As such, Judge Spector affirmatively misrepresented to Navarro the consequences of proceeding pro se.

Navarro's decision not to pursue his initial request cannot

reasonably be considered a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of his constitutional right to self-representation in light of the affirmative misinformation he received from Judge Spector.

A similar situation occurred in Silva, albeit in the opposite circumstance. Silva had just completed a trial and "had displayed exceptional skill" as a litigator. Silva, 108 Wn. App. at 540. He had represented himself in trials twice before. He knew the standard range sentence for the offenses. Nonetheless, this Court held Silva's waiver of his right to counsel invalid, because the trial court failed to inform Silva of the five-year maximum penalty attached to the class C felonies at issue there. Silva, at 541-42.

Just as the affirmative misinformation in Silva invalidated Silva's waiver of his right to counsel, the affirmative misinformation Navarro received from Judge Spector invalidated his waiver of his right to self-representation.

In response the State may claim Navarro was unwilling to proceed pro se because Judge Spector ultimately convinced him that doing so would be stupid. From this, the State may speculate Navarro's decision was not impacted by the misinformation he received, and that he would have made the same choice either way.

But Washington courts have rightly condemned similar speculative

arguments by the State in the past. An accused's risk management decisions are not subject to after-the-fact scrutiny as to whether the misinformation was material to the decision. See State v. Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d 582, 590, 141 P.3d 49 (2006) (rejecting State's argument in context of colloquy to waive trial rights); In re Restraint of Isadore, 151 Wn.2d 294, 301-02, 88 P.3d 390 (2004) (same). As the Mendoza and Isadore courts recognized, when erroneously informed about the consequences of waiving or exercising a constitutional right, a defendant such as Navarro could rationally decide to risk a trial represented by counsel in whom he no longer had confidence.

The Earetta colloquy with Navarro was inadequate because it included affirmative misinformation about the consequences. This Court should therefore vacate Navarro's convictions and remand for a new trial.

2. THE SEXUAL ASSAULT PROTECTION ORDERS ARE ERRONEOUS.

The trial court erred in setting expiration dates of October 10, 2025, for the three SAPOs. This Court should vacate the orders and remand for determination of a lawful expiration date.

A trial court's authority to impose conditions of sentence is limited to the authority provided by statute. In re Postsentence Review of Leach, 161 Wn.2d 180, 184, 163 P.3d 782 (2007); State v. Smith, 144 Wn.2d 665, 673-75, 30 P.3d 1245, 39 P.3d 294 (2001). Because this is a question of law, the reviewing court owes no deference to the trial court's decision. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). The statute authorizing a SAPO provides:

A final sexual assault protection order entered in conjunction with a criminal prosecution shall remain in effect for a period of two years following the expiration of any sentence of imprisonment and subsequent period of community supervision, conditional release, probation, or parole.

RCW 7.90.150(6)(c) (enacted by Laws 2006, ch. 138, § 16).<sup>8</sup>

In determining the expiration date of a SAPO, the court must consider not only the duration of the sentence imposed for the relevant offense, but also credit for time served on that offense. See RCW 9.94A.505(6) ("The sentencing court shall give the offender credit for all confinement time served before the sentencing if that confinement was solely in regard to the offense for which the offender is being sentenced.");

---

<sup>8</sup> The Sentencing Reform Act independently authorizes no-contact orders, but those are limited in duration to the statutory maximum. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d at 111-20 (citing RCW 9.94A.505(8)).

In re Restraint of Schillereff, 159 Wn.2d 649, 650, 152 P.3d 345 (2007).<sup>9</sup>

When applied here, these rules show that for several reasons the trial court erred in setting expiration dates of October 10, 2025, for all three SAPOs because that term is more than two years from the "expiration of any sentence of imprisonment and subsequent period of . . . conditional release" Navarro faces. RCW 7.90.150(6)(c). First, the statutory maximum sentence Navarro faced for the communication convictions was five years,<sup>10</sup> and therefore the longest lawful term for a SAPO associated with those offenses is seven years.

Second, Navarro should be entitled to almost two years of credit for time served prior to sentencing. CP 131; see note 6, *supra*. At most, then, the statutory maximum for a SAPO associated with his communicating convictions should be approximately five years from the date of sentencing. Similarly, the statutory maximum term for a SAPO associated with his extortion convictions (Class B felonies subject to a ten-year maximum

---

<sup>9</sup> Settled equal protection law also requires credit for time served. U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. 1, § 12; State v. Swiger, 159 Wn.2d 224, 227-29, 149 P.3d 372 (2006); State v. Anderson, 132 Wn.2d 203, 212-13, 937 P.2d 581 (1997).

<sup>10</sup> As charged against Navarro, communicating is a Class C felony. CP 40-45; RCW 9.68A.090(2). The statutory maximum sentence for a Class C felony is five years. RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c). Navarro's first degree extortion convictions are Class B felonies subject to a ten-year statutory maximum sentence. RCW 9A.56.120(2); RCW 9A.20.021(1)(b).

sentence, see note 10, supra), should be approximately ten years from the date of sentencing. The court's authority to impose a SAPO therefore required an expiration date about two years shorter for those associated with the extortion convictions, and about seven years shorter for the communication convictions.

A similar problem occurs when a judgment and sentence imposes a period of incarceration and a separate period of community placement that, when added together, exceed the statutory maximum. This Court has required remand for resentencing to clarify that the combined period of incarceration and community custody cannot exceed the maximum authorized by statute. State v. Zavala-Reynoso, 127 Wn. App. 119, 124, 110 P.3d 927 (2005); State v. Sloan, 121 Wn. App. 220, 223-24, 87 P.3d 1214 (2004). The same remedy is appropriate here.

3. THE NO CONTACT PROVISION IN NAVARRO'S JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE EXCEEDS THE MAXIMUM LAWFUL TERM FOR NINE OF THE ELEVEN COMPLAINING WITNESSES.

As previously noted, a sentencing court's authority is limited to that provided by statute. *Leach*, 161 Wn.2d at 184; *Smith*, 144 Wn.2d at 673-75.

By statute, the sentence for a Class C felony may not exceed five years. RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c). Navarro's communicating convictions are Class C felonies. CP 40-45; RCW 9.68A.090(2).

The only complaining witnesses associated with Navarro's two extortion convictions are J.B. and K.T./P. See CP 116-17 (Instructions 27 & 28, respectively, the to-convict instruction for the extortion charges). Because the maximum sentence term for Navarro's extortion conviction is ten years, the trial court did not err by prohibiting Navarro from having any contact with J.B. and K.T./P.

The court did err, however, by prohibiting Navarro from having contact for ten years with those boys against whom Navarro only committed a Class C felony. For those offenses, the term of the no contact order may not exceed the five-year statutory maximum.

The State may argue in response that the trial courts have authority to impose crime-related prohibitions as part of a judgment and sentence, and the ten-year no-contact order imposed prohibits Navarro from having contact

with any minors, including the complaining witnesses in the communicating charges. See RCW 9.94A.505(8) (“As a part of any sentence, the court may impose and enforce crime-related prohibitions and affirmative conditions as provided in this chapter.”). Such a claim should be rejected.

By virtue of Navarro's extortion convictions, the trial court had authority to prohibit him from having contact with J.B. and K.T./P. for ten years. And because the extortions were committed against minors and with sexual motivation, the trial court had authority to prohibit Navarro from having contact with any minors for a period of ten years as a crime-related prohibition under RCW 9.94A.505(8).

The birthdates of the complaining witnesses range from as early as August 31, 1997 (T.H.),<sup>11</sup> to as late as August 29, 1999 (“A.B.”). 2RP 81, 187, 242, 264, 297, 319, 346, 384, 489, 548; 3RP 21. As such, by August 29, 2017, none of them will still be minors. Yet as set forth in the judgment and sentence, Navarro is precluded from having contact with them until 2023. Although this may be lawful with respect to J.B. and K.T./P. because they were victims of a Class B felony, the same is not true for rest of the complaining witnesses, against whom Navarro only committed Class C felonies. The prohibition in the judgment and sentence on Navarro having

---

<sup>11</sup> The judgment and sentence erroneously lists “T.H.’s” date of birth as “(4/10/99).” CP 131 (§4.6).