71126-1

71126-1

NO. 71126-1-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

PEDRO NAVARRO,

Appellant.



# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

# THE HONORABLE JULIE SPECTOR THE HONORABLE THERESA B. DOYLE

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

#

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

# C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE NAVARRO'S RIGHT TO SELF-REPRESENTATION.

Navarro contends that the trial court violated his right to self-representation by misinforming him of the consequences of asserting that right. Specifically, he argues that the court falsely advised him that he could not change his mind and have an attorney reappointed. Because a defendant who asserts the right to self-representation has no right to the reappointment of counsel, the colloquy accurately conveyed one of the risks of proceeding pro se. There was no error.

#### a. Relevant Facts.

On January 23, 2013, only two weeks before Navarro's trial was scheduled to begin, Navarro moved to proceed pro se. 1RP 4, 8. Judge Julie Spector warned Navarro that he was facing "some very serious charges" and asked why he wanted to represent himself. 1RP 4. Navarro indicated that he had been reading the law in jail and felt that he was in the best position to fight his case.

1RP 4. Upon inquiry, Navarro stated that he had not "formally" studied the law, had never represented himself, did not know what the rules of evidence were and did not know what jury instructions were. 1RP 4-5. Navarro acknowledged that he was facing a sentence of 72-96 months and that it was possible that he could be acquitted of the charges but convicted of lesser offenses. 1RP 5-6. The colloquy continued:

Court: Okay. And, do you know that if you represent yourself on your own, you have no right to standby counsel; you'd be completely on your own?

Navarro: Yeah, I do know that.

. . .

Court: Why would you want to take the risk of representing yourself when you're not even a licensed lawyer in the state? You don't even know what jury instructions are. You don't know what Evidence rules are. What makes you think you can do it better than she can?

Navarro: I don't know if I can be better than she can.

Court: So, why would you risk it? You're looking at so much time. I mean, she's really a terrific lawyer. You know, let's say you go to trial, right?

Navarro: Yeah.

Court: And you get to the point where you don't know what you're doing. You know, the Judge can't help you. The Judge can't say, hey, Mr. Navarro, this is what you need to do. You're your own lawyer. And,

you know, there's no right to standby counsel, so you're all on your own. And, you can't ask [the prosecutor].

Navarro: Yeah.

Court: So, why would you want to do this? This is a huge risk that you're taking. It's a big gamble.

Navarro: Because I think I'm in the best position right now to –

Court: Why?

Navarro: -- try my case.

Court: You don't know anything about the law. Do you know how to do jury selection?

Navarro: No.

Court: So, why do you think you're in the best position? Has somebody talked to you in the jail to get you to do this?

Navarro: No.

Court: Why – so, tell me why you think you're in the best position. You don't know how to do jury selection. You don't know what jury instructions are other than parroting back to me that they're instructions to the jury.

Navarro: 'Cause I'm going to trial anyways.

Court: So, you're going to trial, but you don't know the first thing about it. Do you know what the Rules of Criminal Procedure are?

Navarro: I can figure them out.

Court: Do you even have them?

Navarro: No.

Court: And, when is this case scheduled to go to

trial?

Prosecutor: Currently set for February the 5<sup>th</sup>.

Court: So, you're going to learn all the Rules of Criminal Procedure between now and February 5<sup>th</sup>? Do you know people go to law school for three years, trying to learn all this stuff, and they still don't know what they're doing when they get out? It takes years of experience, and the woman standing just to your right has that experience. Why would you want to do this on your own? I don't understand.

Navarro: I don't know.

Court: You don't know? But, I have to know before I let you make this huge decision to represent yourself. And, you don't get to change your mind; once it's done, it's over. She steps away; she's off the case, and you're completely on your own. Do you know how to cross-examine a witness?

Navarro: You're saying that if I go pro se, I'm completely on my own.

Court: You're completely on your own. You have no right to standby counsel.

Navarro: And I can't recall my pro se status.

Court: No. This is not – this is not a game. It's done. I let her go here today; you're done. You don't get to say, hey, Judge Spector, you know, we had that very interesting discussion last week or tomorrow, it's over. It's a huge deal. I just need to know, is something going on here that I need to know about?

Ms. Pickering is really full of enthusiasm for representing her clients, or she wouldn't be in the position that she's in. She's done this for years. You've never done this at all. Would you be your own doctor because you're in the best position?

Navarro: No.

Court: So, why would you be your own lawyer? Listen, let me tell you this: If I were charged with something, and it's not to say judges can't be charged with things, I wouldn't represent myself, so why would you?

Navarro: I don't know.

Court: It doesn't sound like a very well thought-out idea. You know, telling me that you're going to learn it between now and February 5<sup>th</sup>, the trial doesn't get continued....

\*\*\*

Court: All right. I—I have to tell you, based on our discussion, and I'm just being frank, that I think you'd be far better off with Ms. Pickering representing you than you representing yourself 'cause you don't know the first thing about criminal law or, frankly, any law from what I can understand. The case is going to go forward. It doesn't mean you get a continuance. It doesn't mean you get to stop the train. It's — it's done.

Navarro: Okay.

Court: All right. I'm going to – "okay" meaning you're going to let her represent you?

Navarro: Yes.

\*\*\*

Court: So, I want to make sure we're clear. So, you're—you're comfortable going forward with Ms. Pickering, and you're no longer asking the Court to represent yourself.

Navarro: Yes.

1RP 6-11.

b. The Trial Court Did Not Misinform Navarro.

The state and federal constitutions afford criminal defendants both the right to the assistance of counsel and the right to reject that assistance and represent themselves. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); State v. Kolocotronis, 73 Wn. App. 92, 97, 436 P.2d 774 (1968). There is a tension between the two rights, and the trial court is to "indulge every presumption against a valid waiver." State v. Silva, 108 Wn. App. 536, 539, 31 P.3d 729 (2001). "To protect defendants from making capricious waivers of counsel, and to protect trial courts from manipulative vacillations by defendants regarding representation, we require a defendant's request to proceed in propria persona, or pro se, to be unequivocal." State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 376, 816 P.2d 1 (1991). "Once an unequivocal waiver of counsel has been made, the defendant may not later demand the assistance of counsel as a matter of right

since reappointment is wholly within the discretion of the trial court."

Id. at 376-77. The "preferred method" for determining whether a defendant has validly waived his right to counsel is "a court's colloquy with the accused on the record detailing at a minimum the seriousness of the charge, the possible maximum penalty involved, and the existence of technical, procedural rules governing the presentation of the accused's defense." Silva, 108 Wn. App. at 539 (citing City of Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 211, 691 P.2d 957 (1984)).

Navarro argues that the trial court failed to undertake an effective colloquy in this case because the court informed him that he would not be permitted to change his mind and have counsel reappointed, when in reality, the trial court could have allowed that. Brief of Appellant at 6. Navarro contends that this "affirmative misinformation" invalidates his decision not to assert his right to self-representation whether or not it actually affected his decision. Brief of Appellant at 8 (citing <u>State v. Mendoza</u>, 157 Wn.2d 582, 590, 141 P.3d 49 (2006) (invalidating guilty plea because of affirmative misinformation about the consequences of pleading guilty).

The trial court did not misinform Navarro. The court accurately conveyed to him that he could not count on being able to regain the assistance of counsel after waiving that right. Although Navarro is correct that trial courts have discretion to reappoint counsel, he had no right to reappointment and the court here strongly indicated that it would not entertain such a request in this case. Refusing to reappoint counsel was within the trial court's discretion, <a href="DeWeese">DeWeese</a>, 117 Wn.2d at 376-77, and the court's position was reasonable given that trial was scheduled to begin in only two weeks.

Navarro provides no authority for his position that a court misinforms a defendant by stating that counsel would not be reappointed. Instead, he relies on Silva, which did not involve misinformation at all. In that case, the trial court granted Silva's motion to proceed to trial pro se in one case based upon a colloquy conducted in a post-trial hearing in a separate criminal case. 108 Wn. App. at 538. That colloquy did not touch upon "the risks associated with preparing for a trial by jury," and failed to inform Silva of "the nature of the charges, and the maximum possible penalties Silva faced in this case." 108 Wn. App. at 540.

Reversing, this Court held that without that "critical information,"

Silva was unable to make a knowing waiver of his right to counsel in the case that was proceeding to trial. Id. at 541.

Silva does not support Navarro's position. Navarro contends that the trial court should have advised him about the possibility that counsel would be reappointed, but the Silva court did not include that possibility among the "critical information" that must be conveyed to a defendant before he may effect a valid waiver.

Rather, Silva holds that a defendant must be informed of the nature of the charges, potential penalties, and the risks associated with trying a case pro se. The trial court's colloquy in this case provided that information.

Judge Spector's colloquy with Navarro properly conveyed the critical information that he needed in order to exercise his rights, including the fact that Navarro was not entitled to reappointment of counsel if he later regretted his decision to proceed pro se. There was no error. This Court should affirm.

2. THE SAPOS FAIL TO ACCOUNT FOR TIME SERVED AND MUST BE CORRECTED ON REMAND.

Navarro contends that the Sexual Assault Protection Orders (SAPOs) entered in this case are erroneous because they each purport to be effective until October 10, 2025, failing to take into

account time served before sentencing. Because the SAPO expiration dates depend on the expiration of Navarro's sentence, which in turn depends upon how much credit he received for time served, the State concedes that this Court should remand to the trial court to obtain that information and correct the SAPOs.<sup>5</sup>

But Navarro also asserts that the lawful expiration date of the SAPOs protecting each victim depends on the statutory maximum sentence for the crime committed against that victim.

This Court should reject that proposition, which finds no support in the law.

When a defendant is found guilty of a sex offense and a condition of the sentence restricts his ability to have contact with the victim, the sentencing court must record the condition as a SAPO. RCW 7.90.150(6)(a). Such orders "shall remain in effect for a period of two years following the expiration of any sentence of imprisonment and subsequent period of community supervision, conditional release, probation or parole." RCW 7.90.150(6)(c) (emphasis added). The statute makes no reference to the statutory maximum sentence for the offense related to that particular victim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The appellate record is not sufficient to determine precisely the amount of credit Navarro should receive. <u>See</u> Brief of Appellant at 5 n.6, concluding that "it appears" that Navarro "should have received credit for almost two years of time served."

Rather, the plain language directs that these civil protection orders be effective for two years following whatever sentence the court actually imposes.

In this case, the trial court imposed a sentence of 96 months plus an 18-month sexual motivation enhancement for each of the two extortion convictions. CP 130. The court imposed a sentence of 60 months on each of the eight CMIP convictions. CP 130. These base sentences are concurrent, but the two sexual motivation enhancements run consecutive with each other and with the base terms. CP 131. Accordingly, the total of all terms imposed is 132 months (11 years) (96 months base sentence, plus 18 months for one enhancement, plus another 18 months for the other enhancement). Because the statute directs the court to impose SAPOs effective until two years (24 months) following the expiration of "any sentence" imposed in a criminal case, the SAPOs in this case should have been set to expire 156 months after

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The judgment and sentence contains a mathematical error. It appears that one of the mandatory consecutive 18-month enhancements was omitted from its calculation of the total of all terms imposed. CP 131. This error should be corrected on remand.

sentencing (less time served).<sup>7</sup> In fact, all of the SAPOs were set to expire on October 10, 2025, or 144 months (12 years) after the date of sentencing.<sup>8</sup> CP 179-84.

Navarro argues that "the statutory maximum sentence

Navarro faced for the communication convictions was five years,
and therefore the longest term for a SAPO associated with those
offenses is seven years." Brief of Appellant at 10. Likewise,
Navarro argues that the longest lawful term for SAPOs associated
with his extortion convictions is two years beyond the 10-year
statutory maximum for that offense. Brief of Appellant at 10-11.
Subtracting the two years he contends that he served before
sentencing, Navarro argues that "the court's authority to impose a
SAPO therefore required an expiration date about two years shorter
for those associated with the extortion convictions, and about seven

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This leaves aside the question of potential earned early release time, which may be up to one-third of Navarro's base sentence. RCW 9.94A.729(3)(e). While no published decisions have stated how to account for the possibility of earned early release in setting SAPO expiration dates, a reasonable course of action would be to adopt the statutory language and set the termination at "two years following expiration of any sentence of imprisonment and subsequent period of community supervision, conditional release, probation, or parole," with a proviso that the SAPO will expire no later than, in this case, 156 months after the date of sentencing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> It appears that this date was calculated based upon the 10-year statutory maximum for extortion, a class B felony, plus the two years authorized by RCW 7.90.150(6)(c).

years shorter for the communication convictions." Brief of Appellant at 11.

Navarro provides no authority or meaningful argument to support his assumption that SAPOs must be limited to the statutory maximum for the crime plus two years, regardless of the actual sentence imposed. He also cites no authority for his assumption that the SAPO may only protect a victim for two years following the statutory maximum for the offense against *that victim*, rather than for two years following the defendant's release from "any sentence" imposed in that case. This Court should reject these unsupported propositions because they are inconsistent with the language of the statute and the intent of the legislature.

The legislature's intent in creating SAPOs is reflected in its "legislative declaration," codified at RCW 7.90.005. In that declaration, the legislature noted that sexual assaults are heinous crimes that are underreported and sometimes go unprosecuted. RCW 7.90.005. In enacting a civil remedy requiring that the offender stay away from the victim, the legislature created a way to protect victims from offenders who are not otherwise restrained. Id. The intent to protect victims from unrestrained offenders is also manifest in the provision at issue here, because a SAPO

associated with a conviction remains effective for two years *after* the defendant is released from "imprisonment and subsequent period of community supervision, conditional release, probation or parole." RCW 7.90.150(6)(c).

In this case, Navarro will be imprisoned for 11 years (less time served and any earned early release time) on the two extortion convictions. If the SAPOs protecting the eight CMIP victims must expire after only seven years, then these victims receive no protection at all following Navarro's release. Likewise, if the SAPOs associated with his extortion convictions must be limited to two years beyond the 10-year statutory maximum for that crime, rather than the enhanced 11-year sentence actually imposed, those victims receive less protection than the legislature mandated in RCW 7.90.150(6)(c).

Statutory constructions that lead to unlikely, strange, or absurd results are to be avoided. State v. Contreras, 124 Wn.2d 741, 747, 880 P.2d 1000 (1994). Navarro's interpretation of RCW 7.90.150(6)(c) renders the provision largely superfluous and ineffective for any offender sentenced at or near the statutory maximum, surely an absurd result. This Court should reject Navarro's unsupported assumptions about how the SAPO statute

works, hold that the orders must be set to expire two years after the expiration of the total term imposed at sentencing, and remand for the trial court to make the necessary corrections.

# 3. THE NO CONTACT ORDER WAS A PROPER CRIME-RELATED PROHIBITION.

As a condition of Navarro's sentence, the trial court ordered Navarro to have no contact with any of the 11 named victims in this case for "the maximum term of 10 years." CP 131. Navarro contends that the court erred with respect to nine of the victims because he only committed a Class C felony (CMIP) against them. Brief of Appellant at 12. Because the statutory maximum sentence for CMIP is only five years, Navarro argues that the no contact order may keep him from contacting the victims of that crime for only five years. Id. He is mistaken.

"As a part of any sentence, the court may impose and enforce crime-related prohibitions and affirmative conditions[.]" RCW 9.94A.505(8). A "crime-related prohibition" must "directly relate[] to the circumstances of the crime." RCW 9.94A.030(10). But "[n]o causal link need be established between the condition imposed and the crime committed, so long as the condition relates to the circumstances of the crime." State v. Llamas-Villa, 67 Wn.

App. 448, 456, 836 P.2d 239 (1992). Crime-related prohibitions can include no contact orders. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 118, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). No contact orders need not be limited to the direct victims of the crime. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 32-34, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 2007 (2009).

The primary concern in reviewing crime-related prohibitions is the prevention of coerced rehabilitation. <u>State v. Riley</u>, 121 Wn.2d 22, 36-37, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). Otherwise, crime-related prohibitions are within the sentencing judge's discretion and will be reversed only if manifestly unreasonable, such that no reasonable person would take the view of the trial court. <u>Id.</u> at 37.

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